IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC,

Appellant,

VS.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC,

Respondent.

Case No. 69400

Electronically Filed Jun 23 2016 10:26 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department VII The Honorable Michael P. Villani, District Judge District Court Case No. A-13-684715-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ARIEL E. STERN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8276
ALLISON R. SCHMIDT, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 10743
AKERMAN LLP
1160 Town Center Drive, Suite 330
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144
Telephone: (702) 634-5000

INTRODUCTION

Freddie Mac is a federally chartered enterprise that facilitates and participates in the secondary market in residential mortgage loans by purchasing them from banks and other private lenders, thereby freeing up money for additional lending. As the Restatement of Property and Nevada law recognize, secondary-market participants often contract with entities called "servicers" to handle practical aspects of mortgage ownership, such as communicating with borrowers and taking legal action to protect the mortgage-owner's interests.

In September 2008, the Federal Housing Finance Agency (FHFA), the federal agency that regulates Freddie Mac, placed it (and the similarly situated Fannie Mae) into conservatorship. The federal statute governing FHFA conservatorships mandates that "no property of [a conservatorship] shall be subject to ... foreclosure ... without the consent" of the Conservator. 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3). Functionally, this federal foreclosure bar prevents extinguishment of Freddie Mac's property—such as Freddie Mac's deed-of-trust interests—during conservatorship. Under the U.S. Constitution's Supremacy Clause, the federal statute preempts state law, such as NRS Chapter 116, that would otherwise extinguish Freddie Mac's interests.

This appeal principally concerns whether Freddie Mac's contractually authorized servicer, Nationstar, may invoke the federal foreclosure bar as a defense

to a quiet title action in which the purchaser claims a homeowners' association foreclosure sale extinguished a Freddie Mac deed of trust. The district court precluded Nationstar from asserting the defense. That was error. As a contractually authorized servicer, Nationstar maintains an interest in the deed of trust that corresponds to and is derived from Freddie Mac's interest—if Freddie Mac's interest were extinguished, Nationstar would have no remaining interest of its own. Nationstar, therefore, has a concrete stake in protecting Freddie Mac's interest and has the legal right to assert the federal foreclosure bar.

Separately, this appeal involves the substantive questions whether Nationstar received constitutionally adequate notice of the HOA sale, and whether that sale was commercially unreasonable and thus void. On each, the district court erred.

This Court should reverse the district court's grant of summary judgment to the purchaser, and remand for further proceedings consistent with the Court's resolution of the pending legal questions.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(1), as the district court granted summary judgment on November 10, 2015, notice of entry of which was also served on November 11, 2015. Nationstar filed a timely notice of appeal on December 9, 2015.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because it raises as a principal issue a question of first impression of common law and three questions of statewide public importance. NRAP 17(a)(13) and (14). The principal issues raised on appeal are:

- (1) Whether Nationstar, as the beneficiary of the deed of trust and servicer for Freddie Mac, has standing to assert the federal foreclosure bar as a defense to a quiet title claim brought by an investor that purchased at the HOA foreclosure sale;
- (2) Whether the HOA's failure to provide notice of an assessment lien foreclosure sale to the beneficiary of record renders the sale void; and
 - (3) Whether the HOA's foreclosure sale was commercially unreasonable.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- (1) Whether Freddie Mac's contractually authorized servicer Nationstar could assert the federal foreclosure bar as a defense to SFR's claim that a state-law HOA foreclosure extinguished a deed of trust owned by Freddie Mac.
- (2) Whether the district court erred in holding that the HOA's failure to provide notice of the foreclosure sale to Nationstar was cured by the boilerplate recitals contained in the trustee's deed upon sale.
- (3) Whether the district court erred by ignoring facts evidencing that the HOA's foreclosure sale was commercially unreasonable.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a quiet title action following an HOA lien foreclosure sale. On July 8, 2013, a residential home borrower, Ignacio Gutierrez, filed a complaint challenging a foreclosure sale by a homeowners' association. On August 2, 2013, one of the defendants, respondent SFR, filed its answer and a third-party complaint against Nationstar, seeking to quiet title to the property. (JA000021) Nationstar answered, asserting the federal foreclosure bar as a defense. (JA000084; JA000088).

SFR moved for summary judgment (JA000094); Nationstar opposed the motion (JA000167) and filed a countermotion for summary judgment. (JA000237). The district court granted SFR's motion on November 10, 2015 (JA000448), and Nationstar appealed. (JA000465).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. The Original Purchase of the Property and the Deed of Trust

In July 2005, Ignacio Gutierrez purchased a home in Henderson, Nevada. On July 20, 2005, a deed of trust was recorded, listing Gutierrez as the borrower, KB Home Mortgage Company ("KB") as the lender, Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS") as beneficiary in a nominee capacity of the lender and lender's successors and assigns, and First American Title Company of Nevada as trustee. (JA000258-259). The deed of trust granted KB an assignable

security interest in the property to secure the repayment of Gutierrez's loan, which was in the original amount of \$271,638.00. *Id*.

On April 23, 2012, an assignment of the deed of trust, under which MERS assigned its interest to Bank of America, N.A. ("BANA"), was recorded. (JA000288). On November 28, 2012, a second assignment, from BANA to Nationstar, was recorded. (JA000296)

II. Freddie Mac's Interest in the Deed of Trust and Conservatorship

Freddie Mac purchased the loan and thereby obtained a property interest in the deed of trust shortly after the loan's origination (JA000285, at 20:1-5). On September 6, 2008, FHFA placed Freddie Mac into conservatorship. (JA000170). Nationstar is the servicer of the loan for Freddie Mac and was the servicer when the HOA foreclosed and sold the property in April of 2013. (JA000284, at 16:9-12).

III. The HOA's Lien and Foreclosure

Gutierrez defaulted on his obligations to the HOA, and on July 10, 2012 the HOA's agent Nevada Association Services, Inc. ("NAS") recorded a lien for delinquent assessments. (JA000291). The amount owing as of the date of preparation of the lien was \$1,333.30, which included all assessments, late fees, interest, and collection fees. *Id.* On August 30, 2012, NAS recorded a notice of default and election to sell against the Property. (JA000293).

On February 20, 2013 — after the deed-of-trust assignment from BANA to Nationstar had been recorded — NAS recorded a Notice of Foreclosure Sale but did not provide notice directly to Nationstar. (JA000298-299; and JA000303-305). The amount owed as of February 20, 2013 was \$3,757.49, which included the total amount of the unpaid balance and reasonably estimated costs, expenses, and advances at the time of the publication of the notice of foreclosure sale. *Id*.

On April 8, 2013, a foreclosure deed was recorded against the property. (JA000307). The foreclosure deed states that the property was sold on April 5, 2013 to SFR, with a purchase price of \$11,000 — approximately four percent of the amount Gutierrez borrowed to purchase the property eight years earlier (*Id.*), a mere 9 percent of what the trustee's deed itself purports the transfer value of the property to be (JA000309), and just 8% of what Nationstar's expert determined the market value of the property to be at the time of the sale. (JA000316).

At no time did FHFA, as Conservator, consent to the HOA sale extinguishing or foreclosing Freddie Mac's interest in the property. (JA000236).

III. Procedural Background

On July 8, 2013, Gutierrez filed a complaint against multiple defendants, alleging lack of notice, requesting entry of an order setting aside the sale, and demanding damages. (JA000002). SFR filed an answer, counterclaim, and third-party complaint against Nationstar seeking to quiet title and, in the alternative,

advancing a claim for unjust enrichment. (JA000021) In its third-party complaint against Nationstar, SFR alleged that SFR purchased the property at an HOA foreclosure sale free and clear of the first deed of trust encumbering the property. In summary judgment proceedings, SFR relied on a Nevada statute granting HOAs a so-called "superpriority" lien for a limited amount of back dues. NRS 116.3116(2). This Court has held that as a matter of Nevada law, foreclosures conducted properly under that statute extinguish deed-of-trust interests.

Nationstar answered the third-party complaint, asserting the federal foreclosure bar as an affirmative defense. (JA000084; JA000088). SFR then moved for summary judgment on all claims. (JA000094). Nationstar opposed the motion and filed a countermotion for summary judgment, invoking the federal foreclosure bar in each instance. (JA000167; JA000237). The district court ruled that Nationstar lacked standing to invoke the federal foreclosure bar, and on that basis granted summary judgment to SFR. (JA000448-454). In so doing, the district court rejected Nationstar's arguments that Nationstar did not receive statutorily or constitutionally adequate notice of the HOA sale and that the terms of the HOA sale were commercially unreasonable, rendering the sale void. Nationstar timely appealed. (JA000465).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court's order granting summary judgment to SFR includes three reversible errors.

First, the district court erred in ruling that Nationstar lacked legal authority, or "standing," to invoke the federal foreclosure bar. As the record beneficiary of the deed of trust, Nationstar had a concrete interest at stake—an interest that corresponded to and was derived from Freddie Mac's interest, and which the federal foreclosure bar protected from extinguishment—and therefore had standing to invoke the federal foreclosure bar. In any event, Nationstar was entitled as Freddie Mac's contractually authorized servicer to raise the statutory defense on Freddie Mac's behalf. Because this error precluded Nationstar from raising a potentially dispositive defense to a claim on which the district court granted summary judgment to SFR, this Court must reverse and remand with instructions that the district court permit Nationstar to invoke the federal foreclosure bar.

Second, the district court erred in rejecting Nationstar's notice arguments. The lack of notice to Nationstar violated NRS Chapter 116 and the constitutional safeguards of due process. SFR argued that recitals contained in the foreclosure trustee deed constructively cured the defective notice, but subsequent case law confirms that conclusory statements in the trustee's deed that it complied with the

law do not make it so—particularly where, as here, uncontroverted evidence establishes that the HOA did *not* comply.

Third, the district court erred in rejecting Nationstar's commercial-unreasonableness argument. The fact that sale price was \$11,000—only four percent of the amount Gutierrez borrowed to purchase the property—demonstrates that the sale was not conducted in good faith, especially when coupled with the HOA's failure to provide the required notice of the sale.

ARGUMENT

"This [C]ourt reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo." Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the Court must determine "whether the law has been correctly perceived and applied by the district court." Mullis v. Nevada National Bank, 98 Nev. 510, 512, 654 P.2d 533, 535 (1982). A motion for summary judgment should be granted "when the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no 'genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id.; NRCP 56(c). All evidence and inferences must be viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party on a summary judgment motion. Safeway, 121 Nev. at 729, 121 P.3d at 1029.

I. The District Court Erred in Precluding Nationstar From Asserting the Federal Foreclosure Bar

The district court's ruling that Nationstar lacked standing to assert the federal foreclosure bar as a defense to SFR's claim of quiet title was wrong for two reasons. *See* JA000448. *First*, Nationstar, as Freddie Mac's contractually authorized servicer, has an interest in the deed of trust and the underlying property that corresponds to and is derived from Freddie Mac's interest, and that the federal foreclosure bar therefore protects. As a party with a concrete interest at stake, Nationstar has standing to assert a federal statute that would, through preemptive effect, preserve that interest. *Second*, even if the Court assumes (incorrectly in our view) that only Freddie Mac and not Nationstar had a property interest at stake, under the Restatement principles this Court adopted in *Edelstein* and *Montierth*, Nationstar is fully entitled to assert defenses on Freddie Mac's behalf to protect Freddie Mac's interest.

A. Nationstar Has Standing to Invoke Any Law That Will Protect Its Interest in the Property, Which Corresponds To and Is Derived from Freddie Mac's Interest

The district court ruled that Nationstar lacked standing to protect its interest in the property, purportedly because the federal foreclosure bar can be invoked

only if "Freddie Mac or FHFA is a party" to the litigation. (JA000452-453).¹ This ruling failed to appreciate that Nationstar's interest as Freddie Mac's servicer corresponds to and is derived from Freddie Mac's interest, which the federal foreclosure bar unambiguously protects. Nationstar's interest is concrete and not speculative. Whether Section 4617(j)(3) insulates Freddie Mac's interest, upon which Nationstar's interest depends, directly affects Nationstar's interests—if the federal foreclosure bar applies, Nationstar's interest is preserved, while if the statute were somehow (incorrectly in our view) held inapplicable, Nationstar's interest would be extinguished along with Freddie Mac's.

Indeed, federal courts have recognized that servicers like Nationstar, who are the record beneficiaries of a deed of trust but do not own the corresponding loan, have constitutional and prudential standing to bring an action regarding the loan. *See, e.g., Greer v. O'Dell*, 305 F.3d 1297, 1299 (11th Cir. 2002) ("[A] loan servicer is a 'real party in interest' with standing to conduct, through licensed counsel, the legal affairs of the investor relating to the debt that it services."); *BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP v. Texas Realty Holdings, LLC*, 901 F. Supp. 2d 884, 905-09 (S.D. Tex. 2012) (Mortgage servicer was a real party in interest and

Indeed, the district court left open whether the federal foreclosure bar applied, holding that nothing its decision "shall be construed to prohibit Freddie Mac or FHFA from asserting in an appropriate action 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) preempts NRS 116 to the extent NRS 116 would ... otherwise allow Freddie Mac's Deed of Trust to be extinguished ... without FHFA's consent." (JA000463).

"clearly" had constitutional standing to bring lawsuit in its own name to administer the loan.); *TFG-Illinois, L.P. v. United Maint. Co., Inc.*, 829 F. Supp. 2d 1097, 1111 (D. Utah 2011) ("[S]ervicer standing . . . does not seem to require anything more than that a servicer have a pecuniary interest that is harmed by a borrower's default."); *Kiah v. Aurora Loan Serv., LLC*, No. 10-46161-FDS, 2011 WL 841282, at *5 (D. Mass. Mar. 4, 2011) (Fannie Mae often requires servicers to initiate legal proceedings in the servicer's name if the servicer or MERS is the mortgagee of record.).

Federal courts in Nevada have reached the same conclusion. *See, e.g., CitiMortgage, Inc. v. Country Gardens Owners' Ass'n,* No. 2:13-CV-02039-GMN, 2013 WL 6409951, at *1, *4 (D. Nev. Dec. 5, 2013) (granting servicer preliminary injunction to enjoin foreclosure sale to enforce a super-priority lien). One court to recently have applied this principle held that that the beneficiary of a deed of trust may raise federal preemption arguments. In *Saticoy Bay LLC v. SRMOF II 2012-1 Trust,* No. 2:13-CV-1199, 2015 WL 1990076 (D. Nev. Apr. 20, 2015), the plaintiff alleged that the beneficiary of the deed of trust lacked "standing to make this [preemption] argument on behalf of a federal agency that is not a party to this action." *Id.* at *4. The court summarily rejected this argument. It found plaintiff's argument that preemption arguments should be limited to federal agencies to be "baseless." *Id.* The court concluded that the beneficiary of the deed was "entitled

to argue that state law is constitutionally preempted whether or not the government is a party to the case."

Moreover, private parties routinely invoke other federal statutory protections in purely private litigation, without any question arising as to their standing (which is, of course, a jurisdictional matter that any party or the court could raise at any time). See, e.g., Beal Bank, SSB v. Nassau Cnty., 973 F. Supp. 130, 133 (E.D.N.Y. 1997) (private parties asserted claims to protect property interest by invoking the operations of the FDIC's similar property protection statute); Cambridge Capital Corp. v. Halcon Enterprises, Inc., 842 F. Supp. 499, 504 (S.D. Fla. 1993) (same); see also Grimsley v. Bd. Of Cnty. Comm'rs of Atoka Cnty., Okla., 9 F. App'x 970, 973 n.3 (10th Cir. 2001) (noting that a private party injured by a sale without FDIC consent could bring claim invoking the operation of FDIC's property protection statute). Federal courts in Nevada have applied this rule in considering related preemption arguments. See Thunder Properties, Inc. v. Wood, No. 3:14-cv-0068-RCJ-WGC, 2015 WL 1926768, at *4 (D. Nev. Apr. 28, 2015) ("Whether N.R.S. 116.3116 as applied to federally insured mortgages conflicts with [the Supremacy Clause] is a question of law that may be raised by any party, and not just a government agency." (citing Armstrong v. Exceptional Child Care Ctr., Inc., 135 S. Ct. 1378, 1383 (2015)).

The United States Supreme Court recently discussed this issue, noting that the Supremacy Clause, though not establishing an independent cause of action, "creates a rule of decision: Courts 'shall' regard the 'Constitution,' and all laws 'made in Pursuance thereof,' as 'the supreme Law of the Land.' They must not give effect to state laws that conflict with federal laws." *Armstrong*, 135 S. Ct. at 1383 (2015) (quoting U.S. Const. Art. IV cl. 2). Accordingly, "once a case or controversy properly comes before a court, judges are bound by federal law." *Id.* at 1384. Thus, a private defendant may successfully argue that federal law preempts a state doctrine, thereby defeating a private plaintiff's claim. *See Mutual Pharm. Co. v. Bartlett*, 133 S. Ct. 2466 (2013).²

And as recently as April 2015, this Court affirmed that private parties can invoke federal statutes that prescribe the interests of federal financial-institution

Private parties may raise federal preemption arguments in support of their claims or defenses because courts "must not give effect to state laws that conflict with federal laws." *Armstrong*, 135 S. Ct. at 1383. Accordingly, loan servicers such as Nationstar may argue that federal law provides the rule of decision in resolving the quiet title claims properly before state courts in this and related litigation. Other Nevada district courts recently have confused this reliance on federal law with the improper invocation of the Supremacy Clause as a separate cause of action. Order, *SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. Bank of Am., N.A.*, No. A-14-697102-C, slip op. at 7 (Clark Cty. Dist. Ct. Jan. 12, 2016) (holding that because "private litigants cannot use the Supremacy Clause to displace state law"); *see also* Order, *SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, No. A-13-679365-C, slip op. at 9-10 (Clark Cty. Dist. Ct. Apr. 14, 2016) (same). Here, Nationstar has not attempted to rely on the Supremacy Clause as a separate cause of action, and its argument that federal law controls the resolution of this case is proper.

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