Case No. 69400

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC Appellant,

VS.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Aug 24 2016 02:36 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable MICHAEL P. VILLANI, District Judge District Court Case No. A-13-684715-C

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Howard C. Kim, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 10386 E-mail: howard@kgelegal.com Jacqueline A. Gilbert, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 10593 E-mail: jackie@kgelegal.com Zachary D. Clayton, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 13464 E-mail: zachary@kgelegal.com

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

Id. at 548-549 (emphasis in original).

While the *BFP* holding related to a mortgage foreclosure sale, other Courts have extended the *BFP* analysis to tax-defaulted sales of real property with adherence to requirements of state law where the statutes include requirements for public noticing of the auction and provisions for competitive bidding. *See In re Tracht Gut, LLC*, 503 B.R. 804, 815-818 (9th Cir. B.A.P. 2014); *T.F. Stone v. Harper*, 72 F.3d 466 (5th Cir. 1995); *Kojima v. Grandote Int'l Ltd. Co.*, 252 F.3d 1146 (10th Cir. 2001). Regardless of the type of sale, however, the analysis still aptly explains how market value cannot be compared to a forced sale transaction and why this Court should affirm.

The Bank's assertions that the Restatement accounted for a foreclosure and forced sale is disingenuous. *See* AOB p. 16-27 *citing* Restatement (Third) of Property: Mortgages § 8.3, cmt. a. The Bank's only cited authority for this assertion is a comment, from the Restatement, that Nevada has not adopted. Furthermore, it is clear from the comment that the Restatement was speaking of is something more akin to an

NRS 107 sale and never predicted the results and challenges faced by purchasers from the Bank regarding NRS 116 sales. This is apparent because the Restatement (Third) of Property: Mortgages § 8.3, cmt. a *cites* to *BFP*, the Supreme Court case analyzed above that dealt with a mortgage foreclosure sale. Even if this Court were to accept that the comparison is to "fair market value" on the date of the sale, the restatement requires adjustments for potential clouds to title. *Id*.

It is for the above-stated reasons that the Bank's expert's, Mr. Lubawy, market value analysis of the property should be disregarded by the Court. Mr. Lubawy made the assumption is that "the title is good and marketable." 1JA-219-220. In other words, Mr. Lubawy assumed the exact opposite of what is true in this case. In reality, title to the Property is not "good and marketable." This very issue has engendered countless litigation costing thousands of dollars, led to many Nevada Supreme Court decisions, and is still driving litigation because no buyer at an Association foreclosure sale can obtain title insurance without proceeding through costly quiet title litigation. The fact that Mr. Lubawy had to assume the exact opposite of the position adopted by Nationstar to formulate his opinion is unequivocal proof that his Appraisal Report is based upon an erroneous assumption.

Finally, as set forth above, the Restatement provides that the Bank's remedy for "inadequate price" paid by a bona fide purchaser is damages against the foreclosing agent, not to unwind the sale. Restatement (Third) of Property: Mortgages § 8.3, cmt.

b.

In sum, because (1) there is no requirement that NRS 116 sales be commercially reasonable, (2) the price paid by SFR was not "grossly inadequate," and (3) the Bank failed to demonstrate any fraud, oppression or unfairness which brought about and accounted for the price paid by SFR, the Bank's commercial unreasonableness argument fails.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE BANK LACKS STANDING TO INVOKE THE SUPREMACY CLAUSE OR HERA.

A. The Bank cannot use the Supremacy Clause or HERA

The Bank is not the FHFA and, therefore, cannot enforce 12 U.S.C. §4617(j)(3). The United States Supreme Court recently determined that private litigants cannot use the Supremacy Clause to displace state law. *Armstrong v. Exceptional Child Care Ctr.*, *Inc.*, 575 U.S. _____, 135 S.Ct. 1378, 1383-85 (2015). Only Congress through a law's text that determines who can enforce a federal statute. *Id.* at 1383-84.

Here, the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 ("HERA") demonstrates that Congress exclusively authorized FHFA, as conservator, to enforce HERA and to protect Freddie's alleged "assets." Specifically, 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(D)(ii) provides that, "the Agency may, as conservator, take such action as may be appropriate to carry on the business of the regulated entity and preserve

and conserve the assets and property of the regulated entity [Freddie]" 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(D)(ii)(emphasis added). Notably absent in this law is any ability for the Bank to exercise the authority provided to the conservator under 4617(b)(2)(D)(ii).

FHFA's own regulations reinforce this authorization by stressing FHFA has "the **exclusive authority** to investigate and prosecute claims of any type **on behalf of [Freddie]**, or to **delegate to management of [Freddie] the authority** to investigate and prosecute claims." 12 C.F.R. § 1237.3(a)(7) (emphasis added). This acknowledgment by the FHFA proves that Congress gave this authority to the FHFA. Thus, if direct delegation of this authority was not necessary, than it begs the question to why 12 C.F.R §1237.3(a)(7) needed to be promulgated in the first place.

Lastly, 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(1) states "provisions of this subsection [4617(j)] shall apply with respect to the Agency in any case in which the Agency is acting as a conservator or a receiver." 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(1) (emphasis added).

Here, the FHFA is not a party to this case and has not taken any action. Thus, the fundamental requirement in \$4617(b)(2)(D)(ii) & (j)(1), that the conservator must "act," to have the statutory scheme apply, has not been fulfilled.

Additionally, the Bank has not even provided any evidence that FHFA "delegate[d]" its "authority to investigate and prosecute claims" to the management of Freddie. *See* 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(D)(ii). The Bank asks this Court to take them

on their word alone that the FHFA delegated the appropriate authority to Freddie.²¹ However, such a fact was never proved nor did the District Court make such a finding. *See* 2JA_458-464.

Even if the FHFA had delegated appropriate authority to Freddie, the Bank is not Freddie and cannot raise claims entitled to Freddie or the FHFA. While many jurisdictions have allowed a servicer to enforce matters of payment, default of a loan and bankruptcy of the borrower in situations where both the servicer and principle were private entities, *Armstrong* prevents private litigants from using the Supremacy Clause to displace state law. *Armstrong*, 135 S.Ct. 1383-85. ²²

In regards to the Bank's argument that it has standing to enforce the Federal Foreclosure Bar, many of the cases relied on by the Bank pre-date the *Armstrong* decision. *See* AOB p. 13 *citing Beal Bank, SSB v. Nassau Cty.*, 973 F. Supp. 130,

²¹ The Bank asks this Court to take Notice of Freddie Guides available for viewing at Freddie's web page. AOB p. 17 fn. 3. These webpages are not apart of the record and thus should be disregarded by this Court.

²² See AOB at 13-14 Greer v. O'Dell, 305 F.3d 1297, 1299 (11th Cir. 2002)(Max Flow Corporation servicing an account belonging to MBNA American Bank, N.A. in regards to the Bankruptcy of debtor.); BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP v. Texas Realty Holdings, LLC, 901 F. Supp. 2d 884, 905 (S.D. Tex. 2012)(" The court has already determined that BAC, as the mortgage servicer on the three loans in this action, is an agent for the owners of the notes and deeds of trust pursuant to the terms of the three PSAs."); Sprint Comm 'ns Co., L.P. v. APCC Servs., Inc., 554 U.S. 269, 271-72 (2008)(Addressing whether an assignee of a legal claim for money owed has standing to pursue that claim in federal court.).

133 (E.D.N.Y. 1997); citing also *Cambridge Capital Corp. v. Halcon Enterprises*, *Inc.*, 842 F. Supp. 499, 499 (S.D. Fla. 1993); citing also *Grimsley v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs of Atoka Cty.*, *Okla.*, 9 F. App'x 970, 971 (10th Cir. 2001).

What the Bank forgets is that "Article I vests Congress with broad discretion over the manner of implementing its enumerated powers, giving it authority to 'make all Laws which shall be necessary and proper for carrying [them] into Execution." Armstrong, 135 S.Ct. at 1383 citing U.S. Const. Art. I, § 8. The Armstrong Court went on to say "[i]t is unlikely that the Constitution gave Congress such broad discretion with regard to the enactment of laws, while simultaneously limiting Congress's power over the manner of their implementation, making it impossible to leave the enforcement of federal law to federal actors." Armstrong, 135 S.Ct. at 1383-84. "If the Supremacy Clause includes a private right of action, then the Constitution requires Congress to permit the enforcement of its laws by private actors, significantly curtailing its ability to guide the implementation of federal law. Id., 135 S. Ct. at 1384 (emphasis added)." Thus, if possible at all, a private actor would need the express intent of Congress to enforce federal law as anything less would strip away the right from Congress to implement its own laws. See Id.

Furthermore, the Bank's reliance on *Munoz v. Branch Banking* is misplaced. Nowhere in the *Munoz* decision does it indicate that this Court considered *Armstrong. Munoz v. Branch Banking* 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 23, 348 P.3d 689, 690

(2015). But if it had, this Court would have reached the same conclusion. *Munoz*, dealt with whether NRS 40.459(1)(c), which placed limits on deficiency judgments, was preempted by the Federal Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA). See id. In coming to this holding, this Court wrote that "[t]o assist the FDIC in carrying out this duty, federal law provides special status to the FDIC's assignees so as to maintain the value of the assets they receive from the FDIC." Munoz, 348 P.3d at 692 (2015) citing FDIC v. Bledsoe, 989 F.2d 805, 809-11 (5th Cir.1993) (providing that FDIC assignees share the FDIC's statutory "super" holder-in-due-course status and are entitled to the benefit of a sixyear statute of limitations under FIRREA rather than any shorter state statute of limitations). Ultimately, this Court found that Congress intended to allow a private actor to enforce FIRREA. But unlike *Munoz*, the Bank cannot point to a single authority showing the express intent of Congress to allow the Banks to invoke HERA.

B. The FHFA's Policy Arguments are in Contradiction to Federal Law.

In the Brief of Amicus Curiae FHFA, the FHFA failed to provide a single supporting authority that would allow for the Bank to enforce 12 U.S.C. 4617(b)(2)(D). As stated earlier, the United States Supreme Court recently determined that private litigants cannot use the Supremacy Clause to displace state

law. *Armstrong* at 1383-85. To allow the Bank to enforce federal law, including 12 U.S.C. §4617(j), would strip away a right entitled to Congress. *Armstrong*, 135 S.Ct. at 1383-84. Therefore, when the FHFA argues that "no condition precedent" exist in 12 U.S.C. §4617(j)(3), they have completely reversed the standard set forth in *Armstrong*. *See* FHFA's Amicus Brief p. 7. If a private right to enforce federal law can exist, "then the Constitution requires Congress to permit the enforcement of its laws by private actors." *Id*.

Just because FHFA's enterprises allegedly own millions of loans nationwide and because FHFA would prefer for private entities such as the Bank to invoke the Federal Foreclosure Bar, does not allow them to circumvent the law and the United States Constitution. After all it is Congress not the FHFA, Freddie or the Bank that has the power to implement federal law. *Id.* at 1384.

The fact that the Bank's defending Freddie's interest is an "integral duty" of a servicer of the loan, does not make these duties anymore true or valid under the law. Clearly, the FHFA could have appeared to defend its purported interest in the property. Additionally, the net expenditure of litigation in hiring counsel would have been the same whether the FHFA was an actual party to this case or if the Bank participated. Thus, any argument regarding the costs of litigation that would need to be absorbed by taxpayers is simply sleight of hand. If litigations are being fronted by the taxpayers, then the taxpayer is no better off if FHFA retains counsel directly

or if its pays a servicing fee to the Bank which covers litigation expenses. Regardless, for the FHFA policy concerns, nothing that has been presented justifies giving up Congress' right to implement its own laws by allowing private parties to invoke the Supremacy Clause.

C. The Bank has not provided admissible evidence of a Contract between Freddie and the Bank.

The Bank lacks any standings to raises defenses and claims under HERA. This should conclude the Court's analysis on this topic. However, to the extent the Court in inclined to investigate the record further, it is apparent from the evidence contained in the record, that the Bank cannot establish any interest owned by Freddie.

First, the Bank has not introduced any admissible evidence to suggest that Freddie owns the deed of trust in question. The District Court did not come to a definite conclusion as to the owner of the FDOT. JA_111. On April 23, 2012, KB Home Mortgage Company recorded an assignment that transferred its interest in the DOT and the promissory note to BANA, not to Freddie. 1JA_194-196. On November 28, 2012, BANA recorded an assignment that transferred its interest in the FDOT to the Bank, not to Freddie. 1JA 156-157. In fact, BANA was the

Attorney-in-Fact for the Bank, not Freddie. *Id*. Freddie is not mentioned in either assignment. As such, there is a dispute as to whether Freddie owns the deed of trust as the Bank has not introduced admissible evidence to support such a notion.

Next, even if the evidence establishes an interest by Freddie, no evidence has been provided to establish that the Bank is a servicer to this Freddie loan. Neither *In re Montierth*, 131 Nev. ____, ___, 354 P.3d 648, 650-51 (2015) nor *Edelstein v. Bank of New York Mellon*, 128 Nev. ____, ___, 286 P.3d 249, 257-58 (2012) addresses the extent to which the Bank can make Supremacy Clause or 4617(j)(3) arguments. Specifically, nothing in *Montierth, Edelstein* or the Restatement circumvents the fact that Congress did not expressly allow the Bank to enforce HERA.

Furthermore, the Bank lacks evidence to establish that the Bank was an authorized servicer to the FDOT. Instead, the Bank asks this Court to take Judicial Notice of the Freddie Mac web page. AOB p.17 at fn. 3. This Court can only take judicial notice of this document if the fact is "(a) Generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court; or (b) Capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned, so that the fact is not subject to dispute." NRS 47.130(2). To the extent the Bank relies on the guidelines to establish that a contractual relationship exists between the Bank and Freddie, SFR challenges this fact.

First, the guidelines were never disclosed to SFR, meaning that SFR has never had a chance to confront any party regarding the context of the documentation nor has the Trial Court had a chance to consider such documentation. Further, upon an inspection of the website listed at AOB p.17 n.3 http://www.freddiemac.com/singlefamily/guide/bulletins/snapshot.html —it is near impossible to tell how anything in this web page creates a contractual relation between the Bank and Freddie. The web page does not even mention this specific property nor does it identify the Bank as a servicer for Freddie properties. Even to the extent this guide allows for the Bank to act on behalf of Freddie, it violates 12 C.F.R. § 1237.3(a)(7) promulgated by the FHFA, in which it was "...to **delegate[d]** to management of [Freddie] the authority to investigate and prosecute claims" *Id.* The Bank's arguments about the Servicing Guide are irrelevant as standing is a matter of statutory grant from Congress.

. . .

. . .

. . .

...

• • •

. . .

III. NRS 116 NOTICING PROVISIONS ARE CONSTITUTIONAL.

A. The Bank Cannot Raise a Facial or an As Applied Challenge because it Received Actual Notice.

The Bank claims that the failure of NRS 116 is that it did not require actual notice to Lenders. Here, SFR has presented evidence that the Bank's Attorney-in-Fact received the Notice of Sale. Thus, the Bank lacks standing to assert a facial challenge. Wiren v. Eide, 542 F.2d 757, 762 (9th Cir. 1976) ("receipt of actual notice deprives [appellant] of standing to raise the claim" that the statutory notice scheme violated due process); Green Tree Servicing, LLC v. Random Antics, LLC, 869 N.E.2d 464, 470-71 (Ind. Ct. App. 2007) (where one receives actual notice cannot claim that the noticing provisions of the statute are unconstitutional). Any irregularity in notices do not violate due process where one has actual notice of the action to be taken. See United Student Aid Funds, Inc. v. Espinosa, 559 U.S. 260, 272 (2010) (debtor's failure to serve a summons and complaint does not violate due process where creditor received "actual notice of the filing and contents of [debtor's

_

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